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State Bar No. 177900 
Warren & Burstein 
501 West Broadway, Suite 240 
(619) 234-4433 
jw@wabulaw.com  
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

  Plaintiff, 

 v. 

GIOVANNI TILOTTA,  
 
  Defendant. 
 

 Case No.: 19cr4768-GPC 
 
 
Defendant’s sentencing 
memorandum 
 
 
March 3, 2023 
 

 

Introduction 

 Giovanni Tilotta – Gio to all who know him – is a simple man.  Raised in a 

working-class New York home, he was instilled with a sense of discipline, 

patriotism, and pride in family.  Following in his father’s footsteps, he joined the 

Marine Corps as soon as he turned 18.  He served two combat tours in Iraq and was 

honorably discharged as a disabled veteran. 

 As discussed in trial, he opened a boutique firearms business catering 

primarily to law enforcement and the military.  He worked 24-7 to keep his business 

afloat, often sleeping in the office to get work done.  He unfortunately let his guard 
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down with Marco Garmo, someone he believed he could trust given his law 

enforcement status, and was willing to cut corners on the paperwork, leading to his 

prosecution in this case. 

 He now stands convicted of a felony – three to be exact – and has lost pretty 

much everything near and dear to him.  As someone whose father was a police 

officer, whose business was essentially a museum of law enforcement memorabilia, 

and who put his life on the line for our nation, he has lost his firearms license, has 

forfeited his right to bear arms, and faces potential imprisonment. 

 While the former consequences are unavoidable, the latter is unnecessary.  

This is an unusual case in many aspects, not the least of which it is a firearms case 

in which no prohibited person – no felon, terrorist, or cartel – was the intended 

recipient of the improper sales.  Beyond that, Mr. Tilotta has more than learned his 

lesson over the last four years.  Locking him in prison will not protect the public, 

promote respect for the law, or serve any other significant purpose.  To the extent 

one believes in punishing somebody to teach someone else a lesson, Mr. Tilotta’s 

felony conviction and loss of license is more than an adequate deterrent to the 

firearms community.    

 For these and other reasons, Mr. Tilotta respectfully urges the Court to impose 

a non-custodial sentence. Six months of home confinement – nearly double the 

sentence imposed on powerful jeweler Leo Hamel – is sufficient and appropriate.   
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The individual before the Court, and the offense 

 Mr. Tilotta supplements the PSR with the following. 

 He was raised in very humble settings in New York.  His family was working 

class – though today we would call them poor.  His father was a maintenance man 

for the city and an auxiliary police officer while his mother was primarily a 

homemaker.  

 They say the child is the father of the man, and Mr. Tilotta is no exception.  

His childhood neighbors, the Lamprechts, write to the Court that, “even as a kid, he 

was kind, smart, hardworking, and eager to learn.”  (Christine Lamprecht).  They 

called him their rent-a-kid, helping them in the garden, playing with their dogs, and 

even digging a hole and planting a tree the day they came home from the hospital 

with their first child.  (The Lamprechts flew in from New York to attend every day 

of the trial.) 

Mr. Tilotta idolized his father and wanted to emulate him in every way.  His 

father having served in the military, Mr. Tilotta joined ROTC in high school, and 

excelled.   At the same time, Mr. Tilotta was forced to witness his father’s physical 

decline.  His father had uncontrolled diabetes, renal failure, and open-heart surgery.  

Ultimately, he died right before Mr. Tilotta graduated from high school, a terribly 

traumatic event for a teenager. 
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In part to honor his father, Mr. Tilotta joined the military as soon as he turned 

18.  He chose the Marine Corps since it provided the toughest challenge.  He was 

trained as a helicopter mechanic, and later became a crew chief.  He was in the 

Marines when 9/11 occurred, and it was no surprise that he was deployed to Iraq in 

short order.  As discussed in the PSR, below, and in the attached letters, he served 

with courage and distinction.   

After a second tour in the Middle East, Mr. Tilotta returned to San Diego for 

his final year of service.  He stayed here, went to community college then SDSU, 

and sort of stumbled into his firearms business.  It started when he was collecting a 

few firearms and it was suggested a curio and relic license could help expedite his 

purchases.  Ultimately, as we heard at trial, he applied for a dealer’s license and 

then opened a small business.  Honey Badger was open to the public but its focus 

was law enforcement and military service members, people Mr. Tilotta respected 

and trusted, knowledgeable about firearms, a class of people he felt good about 

serving. 

Running a small business is no easy matter, particularly one that has very 

low margins.  Firearms dealers understandably face far more rules, regulations, and 

oversight than other businesses, but like other business-owners Mr. Tilotta had to 

negotiate with suppliers, manage payroll, handle customer complaints, run his 

website, and so on.  The business survived but never thrived, and Mr. Tilotta spent 

much of his time learning about government contracting, since his 70% veteran 
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disability status could give him preference in some situations, but also because he 

really enjoyed working on projects that would help first responders carry out their 

life-saving responsibilities more efficiently.   

It was during this time that Mr. Tilotta met Marco Garmo.  Garmo was 

actually his employee J.R. Diaz’s customer from Triple-E firearms, but Garmo had 

that way of ingratiating himself with anyone he met.  Garmo became a regular 

customer, though notwithstanding the narrative at trial, he was never Mr. Tilotta’s 

top customer, confidante, or friend.  Nor was Leo Hamel, an irregular customer who 

would constantly offer to take him to lunch (and Mr. Tilotta almost always declined) 

but who would pester him from time to time with basic FFL-related questions. 

The trial compressed events taking place over several years into a few days of 

court time.  That is the nature of the beast but doesn’t necessarily provide a fair 

narrative of the underlying conduct.  It wasn’t like Marco Garmo was an 

instrumental part of Mr. Tilotta’s business, nor Leo Hamel, nor anyone else 

connected to this case.   No doubt Mr. Tilotta made poor decisions in helping carry 

out firearms transactions for people who he correctly believed were not prohibited 

persons.  He made mistakes in how he carried out his business and completed 

paperwork.  While the jury found him guilty, and he does not contest the conduct, 

he does want the Court to know he never felt like he was part of any cabal run by 

Marco Garmo.  Did he come under Garmo’s influence, like a lot of other people in 

this case, and have his life ruined as a result?  Of course.  But he has difficulty 
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accepting the entirety of the government’s narrative.  As one example, the 

government considered a smoking gun the email from Hamel to Garmo saying Gio 

asks that ordered guns be done a certain way, “You email him first that you want” 

a particular gun, “he will then reply ok.”  Although Garmo did purchase that gun, 

there was no email from Garmo to Mr. Tilotta following this supposed set of 

instructions – no exhibit from the government, no email in the discovery, and no 

testimony from Hamel that it actually happened.  Because it didn’t.  

Mr. Tilotta cannot change the past nor the jury’s interpretation.  He must 

move forward, but he wants the Court to know there was not some tipping point 

where he decided to throw it all away.  He also wants the Court to know how deeply 

he regrets his errors and will never repeat them.   

Moving on, there was a separate side to Mr. Tilotta the Court has not seen. 

Other than work, Mr. Tilotta has one hobby.  He plays ice hockey, and plays in 

several leagues.  Many of his teammates are law enforcement officers, and he has a 

solid reputation in that community.  As Dr. David Bond – a clinical psychologist and 

retired La Mesa police captain – articulates it, you really get to know someone when 

you play travel hockey with them.  He writes that Mr. Tilotta is a true team player, 

and gives an example of the real Gio Tilotta: when there weren’t enough bedrooms, 

“Gio was the first to volunteer to sleep on a couch.”  He calls Mr. Tilotta a great 

teammate and a friend.  He summarizes, “As a former law enforcement officer and 

now a licensed clinician I get a good read on people.  I know this man and he is a 
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good man.”  As the Court knows, it is hardly common for law enforcement officers to 

write character letters for felony defendants, and the fact that career officers like 

David Bond would vouch for Mr. Tilotta speaks volumes. 

Some of the letters allude to yet another facet of Mr. Tilotta’s character.  

Several years ago, he found one of his neighbors despondent.  Checking in on her, 

he learned this single mother and her children were in a bad way.  Even though he 

did not know her, he sprang into action.  He made sure she had a place to stay and 

that the kids got food.  And ever since, he has been their guardian angel, making 

sure the kids are in school, they have food on the table, and they stay out of trouble. 

There are other heartfelt letters including from an attorney who served in Iraq 

with Mr. Tilotta and a former girlfriend who calls him a “simple and peaceful man,” 

and a “selfless man with an incredibly caring heart.”  

This is now an old case.  The ATF first approached Mr. Tilotta in February 

2019.  After his initial encounter with the case agent at his business (and discussed 

in the government memo), he retained counsel and sat for a lengthy interview with 

the government.  He was told he was not a target, and after the meeting was 

commended for his honesty.  Months later, however, the government turned its focus 

on him, and included him in the Garmo indictment.  When the government declined 

to allow him to participate in veterans diversion, the case headed toward trial.    

(After Garmo pled guilty, the government added more charges against Mr. Tilotta, 
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including time-barred and multiplicitous counts that were dismissed on defense 

motion.)   

As the Court knows, having a criminal charge hanging over one’s head is 

traumatic.  Mr. Tilotta has lived with this case in a way that only a defendant can 

for the last four years, through the entire Covid pandemic.  There is not a day that 

goes by that he does not wish he could change the past.  Though no one can, he does 

want the Court to know he has taken this case very seriously.  He also has lost his 

firearms license.  Though his business is still running, it is running on fumes,1 and 

he will be forced into a new line of work when his lease expires.   

The Guidelines and § 3553(a) recommendation 

 The parties agree on the base offense level, the increase for number of 

firearms, and that a reduction is warranted based on Mr. Tilotta’s extraordinary 

military service.  One potential enhancement is in dispute, abuse of trust or special 

skill.   

 
1 The government’s memo attaches a report that Honey Badger is still posting 
firearms for sale.  Not so.  Those are ancient ads.  While Mr. Tilotta does not know 
why they are being relisted, Armslist’s FAQs’ indicate there is a “built in bump 
feature [to] keep your listings new.” See below.  In any event, Mr. Tilotta did not list 
those firearms recently.   
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A. Base offense level and number of firearms. 

The three convictions group under § 3D1.2, and the base offense level is 12.   

Calculating the number of firearms is tricky.  Garmo made 41 purchases 

through Honey Badger over several years, but many of them – Mr. Tilotta would 

say almost all – were either legitimate purchases or transfers, or in many cases if 

Garmo was doing a straw purchase for a civilian, Mr. Tilotta was unaware.  For 

example, Garmo straw purchased two Colt 1911 pistols at Honey Badger intended 

for, and later transferred to, Jason Khoury, but there was no evidence Mr. Tilotta 

had any knowledge they were straws.  There was nothing in the emails, text 

messages, or Mr. Khoury’s testimony indicating Mr. Tilotta had any knowing 

involvement in the straw purchases.  Likewise, many of Garmo’s purchases had no 

back-end transfers, and in other cases transfers occurred months or years later, 

and often at other FFLs.  As such, it is impossible to pin criminal responsibility for 

those transactions on Mr. Tilotta.   

 Accordingly, the parties met and conferred, and agreed on 24 firearms as the 

scope of relevant conduct, leading to a four-level increase under the Guidelines.  

B. No increase under § 3B1.22 

The government, in its objections and sentencing memo, pursues an abuse of 

trust/special skill enhancement.  Probation got it right; the enhancement is 

 
2 Mr. Tilotta will not spill ink addressing enhancements the government 

acknowledges are inapplicable (role in the offense and “trafficking” in firearms).  
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inapplicable. See PSR, ¶63-65.  

 1.  FFL is not a “position of public trust.” 

As for the first prong, the Eleventh Circuit’s Luis case could not have been 

clearer: “a federal firearms licensee does not occupy a ‘position of public trust’ based 

on the three factors mentioned in section 3B1.3: professional judgment, discretion, 

and deference.”  United States v. Louis, 559 F.3d 1220, 1227 (11th Cir. 2009).  

The Guidelines’ application notes provides examples of conduct that would 

constitute an abuse of trust: “embezzlement of a client's funds by an attorney 

serving as a guardian, a bank executive's fraudulent loan scheme, or the criminal 

sexual abuse of a patient by a physician under the guise of an examination.”  USSG 

§ 3B1.3, commentary n. 3.  Unlike an attorney, a guardian, or a bank executive, 

there is no professional judgment, discretion or deference afforded to gun dealers. 

In fact, under 18 U.S.C. § 923, there are minimal requirements to becoming 

a licensed dealer: over 21, no felony, no willful violation of gun rules, and (the hard 

one) compliance with state and local zoning regulations.  Once you meet these basic 

requirements, your application “shall be approved” once you pay the fee. 18 U.S.C. 

§ 923(d)(1).  There is no educational requirement, no testing, no continuing 

education.  See United States v. Podhorn, 549 F.3d 552, 563 n.2 (7th Cir. 2008) 

(Ripple, J., dissenting) (labeling the licensing requirements for an FFL 

“perfunctory”).   
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The government’s arguments in its sentencing memo are non-sequiturs to the 

actual test.  The preliminary question is whether the position (i.e., an FFL) is 

marked by professional judgment, discretion, or deference, not on the defendant’s 

conduct. Only after determining whether the generic position meets the definition 

does the Court turns to the actual conduct involved.  And here, as Louis explains, 

an FFL is not such a position:  “The guidelines define ‘positions of public or private 

trust’ narrowly based on the professional discretion, if any, of the defendant:  ‘Public 

or private trust’ refers to a position of public or private trust characterized by 

professional or managerial discretion (i.e., substantial discretionary judgment that 

is ordinarily given considerable deference).’”  559 F.3d at 1225. 

In line with Louis’s discussion, the government’s experts at trial repeatedly 

testified that the FFL has no real discretion in carrying out their duties.  In fact, 

the experts testified, and the government argued, the FFL has to do the paperwork 

the same way every time.  See Podhorn, 549 F.3d at 564 (Ripple, J., dissenting) (“If 

the FFL itself forms the basis of the position of trust, then the victim, whose 

perspective we must consider, is the Government. The Government, which is the 

licensing authority, provides an FFL holder with almost no discretion as a result of 

his license. An FFL holder must comply with all sales and firearms requirements 

of federal, state and local law.”) (emphasis in original, citation and footnote 

omitted).  That puts the sword through the heart of the government’s abuse of trust 

argument. 
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 2.   FFLs do not possess “special skills.”  

As for “special skill,” there is even less basis for application of the 

enhancement, and for the same reasons.  Under the Guidelines, “‘Special skill’ 

refers to a skill not possessed by members of the general public and usually 

requiring substantial education, training or licensing.  Examples would include 

pilots, lawyers, doctors, accountants, chemists, and demolition experts.”  USSG § 

3B1.3, commentary n. 4.  One cannot compare the (non-)educational requirement 

necessary to become an FFL with the rigorous education and training doctors and 

lawyers receive.  Recall the testimony: an FFL applicant is subject to a single 

meeting with an ATF licensing officer for a few hours and the receipt of a reference 

book at the end (now just a web link).  After that, there are yearly or bi-annual 

inspections that may or may not occur.  Hardly the level of training, education, or 

licensing qualifying as “substantial,” and far from the examples listed in the 

Guidelines or cases affirming the enhancement.   

Beyond that, the Podhorn case the government cites doesn’t actually advance 

the government’s argument.  There, the jury returned a special verdict finding the 

FFL defendant qualified for an abuse of trust/special skill enhancement.  549 F.3d 

at 561.  On appeal, the only argument was that it was “impossible to tell from the 

jury's special verdict which of these two possible findings the jury made.”  Id.  The 

court was loathe to overturn a jury finding.  Further, as the dissent explained,  

“[t]he majority opinion holds, and I concur, that an FFL does not constitute a special 
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skill under section 3B1.3.”  Id. at 563 (Ripple, J., dissenting) (emphasis added). 

As above, the Court must analyze the position generically in the first 

instance.  If the position is capable of serving as a special skill, then but only then 

can the Court turn to the conduct to determine if the particular defendant’s actions 

were sufficient for the enhancement.  Here, on either prong, we never reach the 

conduct. 

But even if we were to examine Mr. Tilotta’s conduct, he still would not 

qualify.  (Before we do, however, the Court should note that it appears no appellate 

decision holds that an FFL is a position of trust or a special skill.)   Here, the 

government’s factual arguments are weak.  So Hamel asked the occasional 

question?  That doesn’t mean Mr. Tilotta has a special skill; it means only that 

Hamel was unaware.  The same for the government’s argument that Mr. Tilotta 

“had discretion whether to report transfers occurring under his supervision to 

ATF.”  Govt. memo at 12.  The ATF would actually insist there is no discretion with 

an improper transaction; it must be reported.  Same with the government’s 

argument that Mr. Tilotta owned his business.  That proves nothing about the type 

of discretion or the type of skill the Guidelines calls for. 

Because FFLs are not subject to a § 3B1.3 enhancement, and because 

Mr. Tilotta’s conduct was insufficient even if he could be subject to it, the Court 

should not impose an abuse of trust or special skill enhancement.  
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Without this enhancement, Mr. Tilotta is at level 16 and Criminal History 

Category I.  Mr. Tilotta turns to other relevant sentencing matters:  

C. Consideration of co-defendant sentences. 

For sentencing disparity purposes, the Court should consider the sentences 

imposed on each of the co-defendants: 

1. Marco Garmo.  As a high-level law enforcement officer with sights on 

becoming Sheriff, Garmo was the target of the investigation and its principal 

perpetrator.  Even before committing his firearms offenses, he was betraying the 

badge by protecting illegal dispensaries by warning their owners of impending 

raids.  And as for guns, he was obsessed with them and was making a substantial 

profit buying and selling off-roster firearms through multiple FFLs (including the 

Deputy Sheriffs’ Association), often while in uniform or using a Sheriff’s vehicle.  

During the search of his house, agents seized $30,000 in cash. 

The Court imposed a 24-month sentence. 

2.  Leo Hamel.  Hamel – a fabulously wealthy jeweler – was Garmo’s key 

conspirator.  He too was obsessed with firearms.  The hundreds of antique and 

modern firearms he had strewn about his home and every corner of his business 

were never enough.  He wanted more.  Even though he could purchase and 

maintain off roster firearms on his own FFL, that wasn’t enough either.  He wanted 

them all for himself, hence his dealings with Garmo.   
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Off course there was a quid pro quo there, as Hamel wanted access to power, 

so he styled himself Garmo’s campaign manager for Sheriff.  It was a match made 

in heaven, at least for a while; two far-right gun enthusiasts who could exchange 

racist texts and emails, one getting shiny new off roster guns, the other getting 

hard cash and backing for his upcoming campaign. 

Hamel and Garmo didn’t care who they put in harm’s way in the process.  The 

most glaring example is Fred Magaña, who wasn’t able to say no to his commanding 

officer when asked to do a straw purchase.  So that Hamel could score a couple of 

Walthers – and Hamel already owned the same model – they put his career in 

jeopardy.  And they did straw purchases at numerous gun stores, not just Honey 

Badger, jeopardizing staff and owners in the process.   

Hamel pled guilty, but his mea culpa was self-serving.  He was on probation 

for a nasty felony DUI/child endangerment case, and of course essentially admitted 

a million-dollar PPP loan-fraud scheme against the taxpayers on the stand.  

The Court imposed a 100-day period of home confinement.  Given the photo 

of one of his mansions admitted at trial, serving his sentence was not onerous.   

3. Vikas Bajaj.  Mr. Bajaj is an attorney.  He was also enamored with 

Garmo.  He went along with back-dated paperwork.  He acknowledged he was 

facing the prospect of multiple firearms felonies based on the results of the search 

executed at his house.  He bickered with the government during his grand jury 

appearance, and was an unusual witness. 
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He was allowed to plead guilty to a misdemeanor (aiding and abetting an FFL 

in fraudulent paperwork) and was given one year of unsupervised probation. 

4.   Will Anton.  As a fellow Chaldean, Mr. Anton looked up to and came 

under the influence of Garmo.  He had full access to the Sheriff’s substation Garmo 

ran, had radios and other police equipment in his possession, and was working with 

Garmo in a kickback arrangement to “help” people accelerate their concealed carry 

permit applications.  A search of his house turned up $100,000 in cash, and of course 

while on pretrial release he obstructed justice by attempting to sell discovery under 

protective-order to targets of a federal narcotics investigation.  

The Court imposed a year and a day sentence.  

5. Fred Magaña. 

Lt. Magaña was a trusted sidekick of Garmo’s.  He agreed to conduct a straw 

purchase, and then lied about it in no uncertain terms to the ATF.  Interestingly, 

all the other straw purchasers who told the truth about their purchases when asked 

– Dr. Handwerger, Jason Khoury, and Deputy LLanes, to name three witnesses 

who testified at trial – were not prosecuted.  Had Lt. Magaña been honest with 

investigators, he too may have been just a witness.   

Nevertheless, he had a compelling life story and an otherwise stellar law 

enforcement career before his prosecution.   

The Court granted him probation, which it deemed satisfied based on his 

years of pretrial supervision.  
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D.  Sentencing recommendation. 

The above summary helps frame the case.  As the main perpetrator and 

corrupted high level law enforcement officer, Garmo’s two-year sentence 

demarcates the ceiling.  The other sentences were all probationary, other than Will 

Anton, who in all likelihood sacrificed a probationary sentence by his attempt to 

obstruct justice during the case. 

The government points out that Mr. Tilotta is in a different posture because 

he went to trial.  The government hastens to point out – as it always does – that 

trial is a sacrosanct Constitutional right, and one cannot be punished for exercising 

that right.  But Mr. Tilotta did not testify falsely, did not obstruct justice, did not 

suborn perjury, and in fact was polite and respectful throughout the entire case 

including the two-week trial.   

Throughout the case, the government was willing to resolve the matter for a 

probationary felony.  Other than holding the government to its constitutional 

burden, nothing changed, nor should an appropriate sanction.  The Court knows 

cases are tried for many reasons, one of which is the risk of collateral consequences 

such as a state or federal professional license.  While it is true Mr. Tilotta may not 

qualify for an acceptance adjustment, that is not the end of the story, nor should 

the Court over-emphasize that decision in considering an appropriate punishment. 

Mr. Tilotta will not re-litigate the case in this memo.  As the Court recalls, 

the rules and regulations are complex, confusing, and in constant flux.  At trial, Mr. 
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Tilotta acknowledged a misunderstanding of the paperwork, and before he was ever 

charged he met with the government and acknowledged a misunderstanding of 

straw purchases, believing that if the parties were not prohibited it was 

permissible.   

His understanding was wrong, as was his application of those principles to 

the paperwork.  Still, this is a unique case among all federal firearms prosecutions.  

In virtually every other case involving FFLs, the firearms were sold to prohibited 

people, typically felons or drug cartels, via straw purchases.  Here, by contrast, the 

firearms were going primarily to Leo Hamel, a well-known businessman who had 

his own FFL.  The fact that the guns were not destined to dangerous individuals 

with bad intentions is a singular mitigating factor in this case. 

Turning to other mitigating factors, we have Mr. Tilotta’s military service.  

As mentioned, he enlisted out of high school, and served honorably for nearly six 

years.   

Less than one percent of Americans volunteer to serve.  Of those, few are ever 

put in harm’s way.  Mr. Tilotta not only saw combat in hostile terrain but re-upped 

to serve another tour.  He served with passion, zeal, and distinction.  Even if he had 

not witnessed first-hand the death of his fellow Marines, even if he had not 

personally rescued a downed pilot, his service was stellar. 

But he did those things.  Mr. Tilotta’s Navy and Marine Corps Achievement 

Medal award is attached, but the inscription on it bears highlighting: 
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Sergeant Tilotta performed his duties in an exemplary and highly 
professional manner. He witnessed a catastrophic emergency that 
resulted in a massive airborne conflagration aboard the lead aircraft, 
which subsequently impacted the terrain in enemy territory. Assessing 
the scene, he identified an infrared strobe and guided his aircraft to a 
low-light level landing 600 meters away from the burning wreckage. He 
exited his aircraft and ran to the infrared strobe as secondary explosions 
of hellfire missiles and .50 caliber ammunition detonated around him. 
He led three survivors back to the waiting aircraft.  Enroute from the 
crash site, he administered first aid to the severely burned 
crewmembers.  Upon arrival at Al Taqaddum, Iraq, he continued 
applying first aid until relieved. Sergeant Tilotta's managerial ability, 
personal initiative, and unswerving devotion to duty reflected credit 
upon him and were in keeping with the highest traditions of the Marine 
Corps and the United States Naval Service. 

- John. F. Sattler, Lieutenant General, United States Marine 
Corps., Commanding General, I Marine Expeditionary Force3 
 

One of the three crewmembers Mr. Tilotta rescued, Enrique Gauthier, writes 

“Your Honor, I would not be here if it wasn’t for Gio.”  He describes Mr. Tilotta as 

 
3 Mr. Tilotta’s military separation document (DD214) identifies numerous awards: 
 
Navy and Marine Corps Achievement Medal (3*); Air Medal Recruit Training, Male 
2000 Strike/Flight; Air Medal Individual Action; Marine Corps Good Marine Combat 
Training 2000 Conduct Medal; Sea Service Deployment Ribbon (2*); Global 
Helicopter Mechanic Power, 2000 War on Terrorism Service Medal; Global War on 
Terrorism Expeditionary Medal; National Defense Service Medal; Presidential Unit 
Citation- Navy; Iraqi Campaign Medal; Navy Unit Commendation; Letter of 
Appreciation; Certificate of Commendation (Individual Awd); Certificate of 
Appreciation; Expert Rifle Badge (2nd Awd); Sharpshooter Pistol Badge. 
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“the epitome of selflessness,” with “a heart of gold.”   

Mr. Tilotta was not wounded in that episode, but he bears the scars.  And he 

will bear those scars – physical and otherwise – for the rest of his life.  A 

servicemember signs a blank check payable to the United States, payable for an 

amount up to and including their life.  The government acknowledges this service, 

as it must, though it recommends a minimal departure.  To undersigned counsel, 

Mr. Tilotta’s experiences, the risks he took and the suffering he endured, merit a 

far bigger dispensation.  

And it is not just what he did in the military.  The letters paint an entirely 

different, and consistent, picture of Mr. Tilotta, as a selfless and loyal friend.  It 

starts with his childhood neighbors who adopted him as their “rent-a-kid,” and 

continues through his interaction with neighbors, teammates, and lifelong friends.   

There is no doubt regulation of firearms is an important and legitimate 

concern in society.  We have firearms laws for a reason and they must be enforced.  

But at the same time, in this case, we have an exceptional person who made terrible 

mistakes under the influence of a charismatic and high-level law enforcement 

officer whose conduct was so egregious on so many fronts that he was inevitably 

going to be caught and inevitably was going to bring down a lot of good people 

around him.  That is what is so bad about public corruption.   

But Mr. Tilotta was not a public figure.  He was a small businessman and 

one of many FFLs that Garmo did business with.  This was a nonviolent offense 
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with firearms that were not earmarked for bad people. 

As Mr. Tilotta’s conviction has forever altered his life, it has also sent a 

message to the FFL community such as it is.  A felony conviction is more than 

sufficient here, and jail time is not necessary.  He therefore thanks the Court for 

its consideration of his position, and respectfully urges the Court to impose a 

probationary sentence accompanied by six months of home confinement.   

        Respectfully submitted, 

Dated: February 26, 2023  s/ Jeremy Warren 
        Jeremy Warren 
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 Aleksandr J. Yarmolinets 
10748 Lighthouse Pt. 
South Lyon, MI 48178 
 
To: 
 
Hon. Gonzalo P. Curiel 
Edward J. Schwartz 
United States Courthouse 
221 West Broadway, Courtroom 2D 
San Diego, California 92101 
 

February 24, 2023 
 

Re: United States v. Giovanni Tilotta et al.; Case No. 19cr4768-GPC-JLB 
 
Dear Judge Curiel: 
 
I respectfully submit this letter in support of Giovanni V. Tilotta. I am a member of this Court and I have 
appeared before Your Honor in my professional capacity. I’ve always found you to be evenhanded and 
pragmatic. I do not seek to persuade you or to change your mind. As a person who almost certainly knows 
him better than most, I merely offer you a glimpse into my best friend, an honorable man who has been 
closer than a brother to me for more than 23 years. 
 
From the day I stood next to Gio on the yellow footprints of Marine Corps Recruit Depot, Parris Island, 
South Carolina, throughout hundreds of combat hours flying supplies and troops in support of Operation 
Iraqi Freedom I and II, and until the day he was the best man at my wedding, Gio was the shield, the moral 
compass, and the emotional bedrock of my adult life. After nearly twenty years of civilian life, I cannot 
recall in great detail the gun fights, the catastrophic mechanical failures and helicopter crashes, or the 
humanitarian missions Gio and I flew and survived together. Yet, in every memory from those days in 
Southeast Asia, Kuwait, and Iraq, Gio’s rational and logical solutions and reactions—to what now seem 
like impossible situations—stand out as almost certainly the reason I, our pilots, passengers, and the men 
and women fighting on the ground walked away alive. 
 
You will undoubtedly receive other letters from people recounting Gio’s many accomplishments during 
his service in the Marine Corps. But those six years do not define him. You have heard during the trial 
about him sleeping in his office, on a cot, for the last ten years to build a business. But he views this as 
neither a sacrifice, nor his greatest accomplishment. You may even learn about Gio helping raise two girls 
whose troubled mother is not his family, friend, or romantic partner. But Gio will not take credit for being 
the girls’ guide and safety net for nearly a decade, or for his many contributions to their past and future 
successes. 
 
While nearly everyone in his life sees these uncommon examples of selflessness and dedication as 
something that must be celebrated and as the reasons for a “lighter” sentence, I do not. No, his sacrifices 
and achievements are merely symptoms of two qualities that Gio possesses, which, I believe, should 
inform your decision. These are an unparalleled ability to improve every situation he is presented with, 
and a keen, albeit sometimes naïve, sense of fairness. Yet, the good these attributes have brought Gio in 
life is sadly far outweighed by the bad and the evil they also brought. 
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I attended every day of his trial; and we spent hours each day discussing the witness testimony and the 
evidence presented during that day. Every day, regardless of the testimony or the evidence, his questions 
and comments to me were not of a man who was confronted with indisputable reasons for his 
prosecution, but of someone who genuinely could not understand how his actions, intentions, and 
motivations were so grossly misrepresented and, more importantly, misunderstood. This reaction was not 
willful ignorance or diminution of his conduct, but a complete inability to comprehend how the people 
whom he believed to be his friends, colleagues, and purveyors of law and order could so easily concoct 
an alternate reality and destroy his entire world for purely selfish reasons. 
 
After he was convicted, Gio sat outside the courthouse for more than two hours, crying silently, unable to 
move. He only spoke to me, and he said only one thing: “How could have I been so blind? What could I 
have done differently?” If justice strives to teach a lesson, that goal has been achieved. 
 
Gio allowed himself one day of self-pity and sorrow to come to terms with his conviction. After sacrificing 
nearly ten years of his life to build a business and then fighting a never-ending uphill battle to keep it 
afloat during the three years this action has been pending, he went back to work knowing full well that 
the herculean task of saving it will never be completed. If justice seeks to punish, that goal has been 
achieved. 
 
For the several months since his conviction, Gio has completely reshaped his life to make it work as best 
as possible for a convict. He fixed what was fixable, sold what he could, and lost the rest. If justice aims to 
make you stronger, that goal has been achieved. 
 
I now live in Michigan, and I saw Gio for the first time since the September trial two weeks ago. It was 
hard to hold back tears when I saw him. His once youthful face was replaced by an exhausted, depleted, 
and wrinkled caricature. Despite his already modest stature, he now looked shriveled and weak. My heart 
breaks as I type this letter, and the sound of the jury’s laughter mere moments before delivering the guilty 
verdicts plays on a loop in my mind, because I am afraid my best friend was irreparably destroyed by this 
ordeal. 
 
There is nothing for the United States, the State of California, or the People of San Diego to gain by 
incarcerating Gio. Prison cannot and will not make Gio into a better person or into a more productive 
member of our society. He is already all those things and more. If justice purports to rehabilitate, 
incarcerating Gio is not the way to reach that goal. No, it will destroy whatever remains of his sense of 
fairness; it will force him into a situation that cannot be improved. This is a man, a friend, a brother, a son, 
a genuinely good human being who will persevere and work to improve the lives of many, but only if you 
let him. 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 

Aleksandr J. Yarmolinets, Esq. 
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Christine Lamprecht 
20 Drew Drive, Eastport, New York 11934 

516 971-4274 

 
November 20, 2022 

 

Re: Giovanni Tilotta  

 

To the Honorable Judge Curiel:  

 

I have the great fortune to have known Gio since he was 7 years old. I flew out to San Diego in 

September expecting attest in court to the long-term impeccable character and integrity of the 

person that I’ve known for 34 years, unfortunately I did not have the opportunity to do so I would 

like to take this time to tell you now.  

 

Newly married my husband and I purchased our first home, a ramshackle house on the block 

that the Tilotta family lived. Gio & his sister were the first ones to welcome us to the 

neighborhood. Gio was always coming around running with our dogs and always eager to help 

on the many landscape projects that we were tackling. We own a small family contracting 

business, Gio was always tinkering around the equipment at the shop wanting to know how 

things worked and when he was older would help out there.  Even as a kid he was kind, smart, 

hardworking, and eager to learn; fast forward 34 years and I can say with certainty these are 

qualities he has kept.  

 

We did not have children of our own at the time and he became our “Rent a Kid” which is still 

how I refer to him today. A couple of years later we had our first child Jessie. The day we 

brought her home her my husband purchased a blooming cherry tree for outside her window, 

so she’d always have flowers on her birthday. Gio was there to welcome her home and seeing 

the tree to be planted went in the shed, grabbed a shovel bigger than he was at the time and 

began digging the hole, he has always had the ability to look at what had to be done and tackle a 

project giving it his all no matter how much work was involved.   

 

As a teenager I saw him take upon himself great responsibilities at home. His dad was very ill for 

many years with heart failure, diabetes, and a host of other conditions. True to his character Gio 

stepped up and took on many of the household chores and became the rock of support for his 

mom during this time, and after his dad passed just weeks before his high school graduation. He 

is still this pillar for his mother, now in her mid-70’s, has always been the one to manage her 

wellbeing and finances.   

 

He's like a big brother to all our three children, despite the age difference and many miles of 

physical separation he has been and continues to be a role model to each of them and very 

supportive in their endeavors.  You will hear from them individually as they too have written 

letters of support.  
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November 20, 2022:  Giovanni Tilotta continued 

 

 

Gio’s sense of responsibility and integrity lead him to enlist in the Marines; this wasn’t during 

peace time for a kid to get some college money. The United States was actively engaged in war 

at the time and Gio felt the need to serve his country. He was a Helicopter mechanic, a 

helicopter crew chief in the Middle East in combat, credited with saving the lives and injured 

during his time of service.  

 

Even in civilian life Gio’s always finding ways to support others, especially first responders. I 

know you are aware the firearm portion of his business, but this is only a small portion of his 

operations. Much of his time & efforts are put in to devising new and / or better products to 

support the first responder community. While touring his shop earlier this year he was showing 

me prototypes for a local agency he was working on to improve communication with rescue 

personnel rappelling from helicopters – something as a former helicopter chief he is very familiar 

with. He was also custom designing gear bags to make the teams involved in search and rescue 

operations safer and more efficient, he even purchased a commercial sewing machine to 

construct these prototypes himself, sewing the bags himself to get things done the right way, 

that’s the way he is and has always been.   

 

We no longer live in our first house but are not far away. At the end of April each year I drive by 

the house and see Jessie’s tree in bloom and remember my determined “Rent-a-Kid” with that 

oversized shovel.  I could not be prouder of the man he has become, and with this determination 

Gio has gone on to accomplish so much and positively touched so many lives.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sincerely yours,  

 

 

 

Christine Lamprecht 
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Joseph V. Portereiko, DO, FACS 
90 Summit Crest Drive 

South Glastonbury, CT 06073 
(860) 913-6652 

 
 

The Honorable Judge Curiel 
US Federal Court 
Southern District of California 

November 15, 2022 
Your Honor, 
 
I write this letter to you as a personal attestation to the character of 
Giovanni Vincenzo Tilotta in support during the proceeding before your 
court. 
 
I am a double boarded General Surgeon clinically practicing Trauma 
Surgery in Hartford, Connecticut and have been doing so since 2022. I am 
the Associate Chief of Surgery and the Surgical Quality Officer at 
Hartford Hospital in Hartford, Connecticut and have been in that role since 
2013. Additionally I am the interim Chairman of Surgery at St. Vincent’s 
Hospital in Bridgeport, Connecticut. I hold academic positions in the 
Departments of Surgery and Emergency Medicine at the University of 
Connecticut School of Medicine in Farmington, Connecticut and am the 
interim Chairman of the Department of Surgery at the Frank Netter School 
of Medicine at Quinnipiac University in North Haven, Connecticut. 
 
I speak to Giovanni’s character as a someone who has known him his 
entire life.  My father and Giovanni’s (Vincenzo) grew up together in 
Brooklyn, New York in the 1950’s and remained incredibly close until 
Vincenzo died in 1999.  The friendship that they had was more than one of 
two individuals, our entire families were very close.  Vincenzo (all that 
knew him, called him “Vinny”) was my dad’s best-man at my parents 
wedding in 1965. When I was born in 1967, I’m told there was only one 
choice as to who would stand with my parents at my Baptism, it was 
Vinny who not only was a life long friend to my father and had known my 
mother only a few years less but had the personal character and work ethic 
that my parents wanted to be a role model to me.  My older sister and I 
always called him “Uncle Vinny” as symbol that he was family even 
though we were not related by blood. I remember him having a presence 
in all major milestones of my early life with encouraging counsel.  
 
In 1972 when my Uncle Vinny married Giovanni’s mother, my father was 
his best-man.  My mother was a bridesmaid and my sister and I were 
included in the wedding party because Uncle Vinny considered us part of 
his closest family. Giovanni’s oldest sister was born in 1980 and we all 
waiting in the hospital that day. My parents are her godparents.  A year 
later, we did the same awaiting the arrival of Giovanni Vincenzo. I was 
amongst the first to see him after he was born.  His name was picked 
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because it was the inverted version of his father’s. I remember that there 
was discussion about a young American boy having such an ethnic name.  
My father told me that Giovanni’s said that it was the man that makes the 
name and not the name that makes the man.  He wanted Giovanni to feel 
his ancestry and also be unique from the start.  We all called him Gio most 
of the time. Obvious to all, my dad was chosen to be Gio’s godfather at his 
Baptism.  My mother would be Gio’s godmother too.  The choice here 
from what I remember was that Gio’s parents wanted his sister and him to 
always be together, to have strong Christian influence and to consider my 
sister and me as close to family as possible even though there was no 
blood relation. 
I had the pleasure of going through my teenage years and beyond spending 
all major holidays and many weekends with my “godbrother” (that is how 
people referred to Gio and me), my godfather and the rest of “our” family.  
My father and Gio’s had a very similar upbringing including both serving 
in the Army in the early 1960’s and I believe that influenced how they 
wanted us to be raised as well.  Discipline, family, a strict work ethic and 
citizenship were the pillars on which we were raised.  Gios’ father was an 
Auxillary Police Officer in the Town of Brookhaven on Long Island, 
rising through the ranks of Sargent and then Coordinator.  Using that as a 
concrete example, we were shown how good it is to do for others and at 
the same time respect for laws and those that serve and protect were re-
enforced.  We also learned that family fun time is important too.  Our 
dad’s and we would spend many weekends fishing, hunting and just 
playing around at his house on Long Island.  It didn’t really matter much 
what we were doing as long as we were doing it together. 
As I graduated from College and then Medical School, Gio was at every 
ceremony and celebration.  We spoke often about how for me academics 
and a “profession” in medicine was what I always dreamed of but 
everyone’s dreams are different.  I was not surprised when during his High 
School years he turned more towards work and away from studies.  He 
was incredible with his hands.  He picked up some jobs doing mechanical 
stuff including work at a boat yard. By spending long hours there he 
learned many facts of marine operations and when my Uncle Vinny’s boat 
needed a bit of work Gio and I would go at it. It was so fulfilling seeing 
Gio dive into a mechanical or electrical problem and figure it out.   
 
When he joined the ROTC, it was a natural calling.  His mentors had told 
his parents that he was one of the best participants that they had and were 
very encouraging of him continuing in a military path.  These though were 
very difficult years for Gio and our families.  Gio’s dad, my “uncle 
Vinny” had many complications on uncontrolled diabetes.  His physical 
condition deteriorated requiring open heart surgery and many hospital 
admission for renal failure.  I saw Gio struggle with losing his father.  
When we finally lost him, Gio naturally took it very hard, but I saw 
something else at the same time.  To me, Gio was deciding his future and 
how to emotionally get past the lost.  He enlisted in the Marines! He was 
not running from anything but was resetting his course.  It was not 
academics in the sense that I had done, but in a more difficult way.  
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Discipline, work ethic and citizenship, would take priority as he learned a 
craft while serving his country. 
 
It was difficult for Gio and me to stay in touch during his initial military 
time, although whenever we know he was coming home, the family would 
make sure we all got to see him.  When the war started, we all were 
concerned about his physical and mental welfare.  Over the years we 
would hear directly from him or through his mother about how he was 
doing.  It was not until years after he left the service that I learned from 
others and him about what he went through in the Middle East and how he 
served honorably and heroically despite seeing so much death and 
destruction and experiencing loss of friends and fellow Marines. 
 
After he left the Marines, Gio and I reconnected first with text messaging 
and phone calls.  We got caught up quickly and I learned of how he 
matured into a wonderful man while he was away and was really trying to 
make a life for himself in the civilian world.  He dabbled in day trading as 
he worked on airplane engines and simultaneously was attending college. 
His end goal though was something different, something that would 
challenge him. During one of our phone calls, Gio asked if I still went 
hunting every November. This was a tradition that I had with my father 
and godfather. Gio had joined us for a big-game hunt a couple of times 
and now he wanted to try it again.  That year, he joined me and my long-
time hunting partner and now it has now become a tradition for him to fly 
to Connecticut and for us to make the drive together to New York for 
opening weekend of the big game season.  For either of us, I’m not sure 
it’s actually about the hunt, but more so the time we spend together 
enjoying the outdoors, reminiscing about the past, getting caught up about 
the present and speaking about the future.   
 
During the drives when it is just he and I, I have learned most about Gio.  I 
have learned how much he has done for those around him in San Diego.  I 
know how much he devotes time to his neighbors who are going through 
tough times.  I know how often he has people staying at his house when 
they are in need.  I know how much of his business he has dedicated to 
law enforcement and military charities.  I know how honest he is and how 
respectful of the law and law enforcement he is.  He trusts those that wear 
a badge, shield or uniform.  He trusts those with authority by age or title. I 
believe that this goes back to his upbringing and time in the military. 
 
I was with Gio the day before and of his verdict.  I personally witnessed 
how devastated he was the last night because of what the verdict could 
mean to his business.  He enjoys working with the military and law 
enforcement clients.  He loves finding them solutions for gear and 
equipment that others have not been able to offer.  He wants to serve them 
to help them be better.  I’ve found no selfishness or personal gain in what 
he does. 
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Thank you for the opportunity to speak on behave of Giovanni.  If it 
would please the court to learn more about the Gio that I know, please feel 
free to reach out at any time.  My cell phone number is above. 
 
With all respect and sincerity, 
 
 
Joseph V. Portereiko 
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Jes Lamprecht 

20 Drew Drive, Eastport, NY 11941 

631 291-1984 

 
November 21, 2022 
 
 
To the honorable Judge Curiel,  
 
 

I am writing this letter to tell you more about Gio Tilotta. Though not a blood relative Gio 
has been a part of our family since before I was born. Growing up down the block Gio was 
always a fixture in our household. When my parents were having me Gio helped plant a cherry 
tree in our front yard that blooms every year on my birthday.  

 

Though he was much older he always took the time to make me feel like a valued 
human instead of a little kid. Though he went off to the military we regularly saw him on his 
home trips, and he was always supportive of my interests. He was my first ever client as an 
artist and commissioner of two paintings that hang in his home to this very day. When I was in a 
band touring San Diego he came out to see the show and gave me a break from tour snacks by 
buying me dinner. I don't think he was into my type of weird punk music, but he was definitely 
excited that I was pursuing one of my creative passions.  

 

During the pandemic I was trying to help the local ambulance organization that my father 
was a part of with digital communication solutions. When I was stressed to my limit I called Gio 
and he calmly talked me through some of the software he used for his business and we were 
able to find a solution to help the EMS service through its most difficult time. That's just who Gio 
is. An extremely loving talented man who is always there for you when you need help and 
always there to support you through life's hardships and triumphs. When I flew from New York 
to be there for him during the court case there were many people there that I talked to who Gio 
has met through many different stages of his life and they all had similar stories. Everyone goes 
through life differently and not many have such a positive impact on those around them as Gio 
Tilotta.  

 

Thank you for your time, 

 

Jes Lamprecht  
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John Lamprecht 

20 Drew Drive, Eastport, New York 11941   (631) 830-2444 

November 21, 2022 

To the honorable Judge Curiel, 

Your Honor, it is my understanding that you will be the one who must determine a sentence for 

Giovanni Tilotta – Gio.  I am writing this letter still with a feeling of disbelief.  I cannot imagine how 

we’ve come to this place where you will have to sentence Gio.  I know that he was found guilty on 

several counts by a jury – but that is not whom the person Gio is.  

 

When my wife and I moved into Center Moriches back in 1986 we ended up doing a lot of work on 

the house and landscaping.  What you can afford is not what you’d always like to live in.  While 

working outside, Gio and his sister Nichole would come over and watch.  Gio ended up pitching in 

and helping.  He was always curious, intelligent, and willing to put in some hard work just to be able 

to hang around.  Gio became the son that we didn’t yet have. 

 

Vincent Tilotta – Gio’s father worked for the Town of Brookhaven Highway Department.  He also 

volunteered for the Suffolk County Police Auxiliary.  Gio’s father had been in the Army and had been 

stationed in Europe.  As I recall Vinnie was a very strict father who imparted a strong sense of right 

and wrong to his Children.  Unfortunately, while the children were both teenagers Vinnie was 

diagnosed with diabetes and subsequently died from it.  Cathy Tilotta – Gio’s mother was at loose 

ends for a while.  Gio stepped up and helped stabilize her, and the household.      

 

Through the years I’ve watched Gio grow up and turn into a fine man.  He played hockey while he 

was in high school and then went into the military.  This young man volunteered for the Marines and 

went overseas and served his Country.  He made a life for himself in California and has worked very 

hard to be a success – but not at the expense of his honor.   

 

I was not at the trial – I had to work the business while my wife went out there to be a character 

witness.  Unfortunately, she was not called.  I cannot address the quality of his defense or how 

competent the prosecution was – I can only attest to what I know about Gio Tilotta – and that is that 

he is a good man, an honorable man, and if he got caught up in something shady, he was a victim 

who was taken advantage of.  If you need to speak to me about Gio, I’d be happy to have a 

conversation.  My phone number is (631) 830-2444.   

 

Sincerely,  

John M. Lamprecht 
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Travis Lamprecht 
109 West 111th St #C, New York, NY 10026 

631 553-5911 
 
Dear Judge Curiel,  
 
I'm writing to you regarding the character of a man you're about to sentence, Giovanni 
Tilotta. While he may not be a blood relative of mine, Gio is certainly an older brother to 
me. 
 
In the late 80s, my mother and father got married and bought a house in the small town of 
Center Moriches, Long Island, on a quiet street named Cozine Road. Down the block lived a 
woman, Cathy Tilotta, who became a lifelong friend of my parents. Cathy’s children Gio and 
Nicole spent so much time around my parents they became their “rent-a-kids.” When my 
mother and father decided to have children of their own, Cathy became our family’s 
designated babysitter and ultimately my godmother.  

 
While Gio and I are not close in age, this never stopped us from sharing great moments 
together when I was growing up. Whether it be encouraging me to take off the training 
wheels when I was learning to ride a bike or showing me how the throttle on his Motor 
scooter worked, Gio was more than happy to share his knowledge and experiences with me 
whenever he had a chance. Shortly after I was born Gio's father passed away leaving his 
mother Cathy widowed. This deeply impacted Gio and made him an incredibly vigilant son 
always making sure his mother and sister were taken care of even when he listed in the 
Marine Corps. 
 
When Gio returned from his deployment in the Middle East we both had grown, me about a 
foot and him from what he had experienced overseas. Even though his time of service was 
not easy, his character did not once crack. What he saw there never stopped him from 
telling jokes, lighting up the room and being a pleasant person to be around. 
 
While we now live on opposite coasts, we have thankfully been able to keep in touch online 
and over the phone. While I was on the Broadway first national tour of Charlie and the 
Chocolate Factory as a staff carpenter, I was fortunate enough to have a performance in San 
Diego and got the opportunity to bring Gio up onto the stage afterwards. In this moment, I 
got to show Gio how the example he set for me of hard work and drive influenced and 
shaped me as a person. To see the look of pride and happiness on his face knowing that his 
"little brother " had gone out into the world to make something of himself was a highlight of 
my 14 months on the road. 
 
Giovanni it is a big part of a lot of people’s lives. He is a beloved son, brother, and role 
model. I hope you take this into consideration while weighing his sentence. 
 
-Travis Lamprecht 
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Jerome Joaquin 
2420 Mammoth Drive 
San Diego CA 92123 
 
November 20, 2022 
 
Re: Gio Tilotta 
 
To: The Honorable Judge Gonzalo P. Curiel 
 
I am a retired police officer with 32 years of service with the City of San Diego Police 
Department (SDPD). I currently serve as the Vice President of Operations for the Intelligence 
Research Institute, an educational non-profit based in San Diego, California. 
 
I met Gio Tilotta while I was working as a police office on the tactical team (SWAT) for the San 
Diego Police Department. We were researching businesses that could support the police 
department as an outside vendor. Mr. Tilotta’s business, Honey Badger Firearms, and later Omni 
Equipment Solutions, came highly recommended to us by a number of agencies within the local 
law enforcement community. The San Diego Police Department has used Honey Badger 
Firearms and Omni Equipment Solutions as a vendor for equipment since approximately 2014. 
 
I am writing this letter to support Mr. Tilotta and to provide some background as to his character 
which was not represented during the court proceedings. I do understand that he has been found 
guilty to three felony counts. 
 
I am familiar with his general behavior and character. I have observed Mr. Tilotta demonstrate 
good behavior and character. He has a good reputation within the local community as a fair and 
honest citizen. I do not consider him to be a threat to society. He has assisted as a volunteer 
many times at the Intelligence Research Institute and shown himself to be a diligent and hard 
worker. As such, I offer this letter in support to speak of his good character. 
 
Mr. Tilotta is a veteran of the United States Marine Corp (USMC). He served honorably during 
the Gulf War on Terror in Kuwait and Iraq. I have met many of Gio’s friends from his time in 
the USMC. They range from teachers, jet mechanics, and lawyers. All speak highly of his 
friendship and strength of character. 
 
I hope that you take my character letter into consideration as you move into the sentencing 
phase. Despite Gio’s conviction, I still believe Gio to be an honorable person, a valuable member 
of our community, and a good human being. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Jerome Joaquin 
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Giovanni Tilotta

Sentencing Exhibits:

- Military records

- USA Today article
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